AMTF SONGS AND DECREES



Ascended Master Teaching Foundation,
Mount Shasta, California
Copyright 1985
ISBN 978-0-939051-19-2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECREES FOR PERSONAL USE	5
Minimum Daily Application	5
OTHER PERSONAL DECREES	7
The Protective Shield of Archangel Michael	7
Decree for Protection	7
Helpful "I AM" Statements	
The Power of the Presence	8
Personal Development	9
Decree for Inner Peace	
Prayer for Peace	10
Comforting Presence	10
Food Blessing	10
Healing Vizualization	11
The Resurrection Flame	12
Healing	13
Body Elemental	13
Decree (Upon Awakening in the Morning)	14
Decree (Before Retiring at Night)	14
Emergency Decree	
Decree for Releasing the Good in the Causal Body	15
Daily Re-Consecration	15
The Chela (Poem)	15
ORDER OF SERVICE FOR GROUP DECREES	16
Invocation	17
Violet Flame Decrees	19
Light Descent Decree	22
Decrees For Supply	22
Decree For Health	23
Decree For Dispersing Foci of Epidemics	23
Decree For Finances	24
Circle And Sword of Blue Flame	24
Decree For Chelas	25
Decree For Protection of Chelas	25
Victory For the Earth	27
Protection For the Earth	27
Protection of Incoming Buddhas	28
Protection For the Unites States	29

Decrees for Chelas of Saint Germain	29
Call for Expansion of the Teachings	30
Decree for Additional Chelas	30
Decree to Remove Pride	31
Decree For Chelas to Keep Harmony And Unity	31
Constancy in Service	32
Truth And Illumination	33
Command the Outer Self	33
Decree to Recognize Truth	33
Protection For Young People	
Stop Destructive Use of Free Will	34
Resurrection Flame	
Decree for the Water Element	35
Decree to Bless Sylphs	
Purification of the Gas Belts	36
Decree to Help the Earth	37
Purify the Earth	
Decrees for the Four Elements	38
Release Elementals	40
Weather	
United States Elections	
Invocation for Incoming Enlightened Souls	41
Purify Souls of Incoming Children	42
Invocation for New-Born Child	43
Decree for Unmarried Mothers and Their Children	44
Invocation for the Expectant Mother and Child	45
Easy Passing	46
Benediction	46
SONGS FOR AMTF-SERVICES	49
Pledge To Serve	
Beloved Saint Germain	
To the Angels	
Blest Violet Fire	
Constancy	
Ecstacy	
Great Karmic Board	
Holy Christ Flame	
Hail to Thee Hilarion	

Beautiful Kwan Yin	58
Beloved Lanto	59
Mary From the Realms of Glory	60
Magnify the Lord	
Nearer I AM to Thee	62
Beloved Archangel Raphael	63
Beloved Sanat Kumara	
To the Seven Archangels	65
Song of Thanksgiving	
The Will of God	
Beloved Archangel Uriel	
Victory – Beloved Friend	
Silence	
God Be With You Til We Meet Again	70
Vedantic Prayer	
Code of Conduct for a Disciple of the Holy Spirit	
Service For the Consecration of Children	
Services for the Departed	
Remarks About The Ascension Process	

DECREES FOR PERSONAL USE

MINIMUM DAILY APPLICATION

Give your attention to your I AM Presence. Pour your love and gratitude toward it. Ask the Presence to guide you this day. Then give, with deep feeling, the following decrees:

- 1. In the name of my I AM Presence and in the name of all mankind, I give now full authority for the Earth and all world conditions to the beloved Ascended Masters Saint Germain, El Morya and the Maha Chohan, to bring into manifestation the divine plan fulfilled!
- 2. Beloved Mighty I AM Presence and beloved Archangel Michael, intensify your protective pillar of pure light substance through and around me, charged with your invincible protection, all-powerful and impenetrable.
- 3. Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Archangel Michael, Angels of Blue Flame and beloved Ascended Lady Master Astrea,

LOCK YOUR COSMIC CIRCLE AND SWORD OF BLUE FLAME in, through and around all misqualified energy around me and all mankind. (3)

Seize and render this energy ineffective. Transmute, transmute, transmute it all, causes, cores, effect, record and memory! (3)

Illumine, illumine illumine the source and see that this energy may not act or encroach upon life any longer! (3)

- 4. I AM the Law of Forgiveness for myself and all mankind for all mistakes, misqualified energy, and for straying from the Light. (3)
- 5. Mighty I AM Presence, beloved Ascended Master Saint Germain, Archangel Zadkiel and Amethyst, blaze through and around me the Transmuting Violet Flame, thy Sacred Fire. Purify and transmute all energy ever misqualified by me. Keep this flame sustained and powerfully active.
- 6. Mighty I AM Presence, you direct my activity, world and affairs! Take full command of me, guide and illumine me every step of the way. See that I render the greatest service possible. See in your wisdom that I make the ascension at the close of this embodiment. I AM the ascension manifesting! I thank you, beloved I AM.

Play keynote of an Ascended Master. Become still. Send love and feelings of gratitude to one or more of the Ascended Masters, use his/her picture. Contemplate the consciousness, nature and feelings of the Ascended Master. Thank him for his assistance now and during the day. Send love and gratitude to the angelic and elemental kingdom, including your ministering angel and body elemental. On the return current, accept the energies radiated to you.

OTHER PERSONAL DECREES

THE PROTECTIVE SHIELD OF ARCHANGEL MICHAEL

In the name of the beloved victorious Presence of God in me—I decree:

Michael within me and Michael without me,

Michael beneath and all about me!

Michael above—LET NO ONE DOUBT ME—

I AM HIS LOVE PROTECTING HERE!

Beloved Michael's shield should be visualized 7 ft. high and 5 ft. high, placed in front, in back and on either side. In addition it may be visualized to be above the head and beneath the feet.

The shield is made of blazing white light substance with the likeness of beloved Archangel Michael in gold in the middle, holding his sword of blue flame.

DECREE FOR PROTECTION

I am but an open door, surrounded by blazing flame. I am invisible, not only to human discord and distress, but to the forces that oppose good—embodied and disembodied. There is no one to oppose, no one to strike at, no one to reach—for the beloved Ascended Masters El Morya, Saint Germain, the Maha Chohan and all of the Ascended Host are actively supporting "The Bridge to Freedom Activity", NOW AND ALWAYS. I am NOW enjoying boundless peace, protection and health, and an overwhelming supply of all good things, to enable me to serve this cause bountifully.

HELPFUL "I AM" STATEMENTS

This is the day the Lord has made. It will be a day where I will express the virtues of God in all of their beauty and perfection.

I AM at one with the heart of God and I will constructively qualify the life energy given to me today. (3)

I AM at peace and I AM expressing full and perfect harmony, knowing that the Ascended Host will protect and guide me and fulfill my every need. (3)

- I AM the mighty victorious Presence helping me to manifest perfection in every situation I will be facing today. (3)
- I AM determined not to give attention and power to the appearance world, and I will try to be porter at the door of thought and feeling. I insist that man is potentially divine. For all that which I am ready to receive, I am deeply grateful. (3)
- I AM the Resurrection and the Life of my limitless strength and energy! (3)
- I AM the Resurrection and the Life of my limitless supply of money and every good thing, visible and tangible in my hands and use today! (3)
- I AM the Resurrection and the Life of my divine plan fulfilled! (3)
- I AM , I AM, I AM the resurrection and the life of the perfect health and action of every cell and organ of my body, here and now made manifest and forever sustained! (3)
- I AM the resurrection and the life of the perfect action of my mind, world and affairs, here and now made manifest and forever sustained! (3)
- I AM the resurrection and the life of all the Ascended Jesus Christ protection and happiness! (3)
- I AM! I AM! I AM! the resurrection and the life of the Ascended Jesus Christ feeling of cosmic Christ Peace. (3)
- And in full faith, I consciously accept this made manifest for me here and now!

THE POWER OF THE PRESENCE

- "I AM" the only power that can act.
- "I AM" the energy that sustains you and gives you the intelligence by which you act.
- "I AM" the health in your body now forever sustained.
- "I AM" the glory of God made manifest through your mind and body.
- "I AM" the power that beats your heart.
- "I AM" the victory of the Light of God, made manifest right now.
- "I AM" supplying boundless energy and wealth for everyone.

PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT

Beloved mighty victorious Presence of God "I AM", Beloved Goddess of Liberty, Beloved Ascended Masters Saint Germain, El Morya, Kuthumi, Paul, the Venetian and all who serve with them!

Mighty I AM Presence charge my mind with Ascended Master consciousness and hold it there forever. (3)

Expand, expand, and forever expand the perfectly balanced activities of divine love, wisdom and power which are within the glorious immortal Threefold Flame anchored within my heart. Expand the light, the substance and the feelings of the God-control and victory of that flame in, through and around me, until it completely possesses and controls all the energies of my entire lifestream. (3)

Let this Threefold Flame of my divinity direct, correct, protect and perfect me at all times, keeping me always supplied with the limitless abundance of money and every good thing I require for the fulfillment of my divine plan. Keep these activities eternally sustained, all-powerfully active and ever-expanding until I am wholly ascended and free! (3)

What I call forth for myself, I also call forth for mankind.

And I consciously accept this done RIGHT NOW with full power!

DECREE FOR INNER PEACE

I live, move, and have my being in a gigantic, fiery focus of the victorious flame of Cosmic Christ Peace from the heart of the beloved Elohim of Peace and the beloved Himalaya, commanding and compelling my calm, perfect poise and Ascended Master God-control, which nothing can disturb!

(Say 3 times with deep feeling)

PRAYER FOR PEACE

By Saint Francis of Assisi

(Beloved Kuthumi in a former embodiment)

Lord, make me a channel of thy peace,

That where there is hatred—I may bring love,

That where there is wrong, I may bring the spirit of forgiveness,

That where there is discord, I may bring harmony,

That where there is error, I may bring truth,

That where there is doubt, I may bring faith. That where there is despair, I may bring hope,

That where there are shadows—I may bring THY light."

COMFORTING PRESENCE

Oh, Thou beloved immortal Victorious Threefold Flame of eternal truth within my heart, ARISE! Illumine everything to me by the cosmic flame of cosmic love and teach me the Ascended Master Truth concerning all! (3 times)

Oh, thou beloved immortal Threefold Flame of eternal truth within my heart, ARISE! Compel all the energy in my body, mind and world into perfect divine order through divine love. Protect, sustain and expand this comforting balance in, through and around me, making and keeping me the comforting presence of the beloved Maha Chohan to all I contact, today and forever! (3 times)

FOOD BLESSING

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, blaze the Transmuting Violet Flame through this food. Charge it with Ascended Master Light Substance. See that it renews and perfects every cell in my body (in our bodies).

We thank and bless all elementals who brought forth this food in service to mankind. Beloved mighty I AM Presence, see that everyone has all the food required and gives credit to the source.

HEALING VISUALIZATION

(Sending Light to the four lower bodies)

Relax and give your attention to the I AM Presence.

Visualize and feel the Threefold flame in your heart expand and enfold your four lower bodies. (The emotional body is the largest of the four lower bodies. In this case, visualize it ten feet in diameter around the physical body).

Visualize this action for three minutes, then say slowly:

"I AM the Presence expanding the Threefold flame in my heart, causing the points of Light in every cell of my bodies to expand. (Pause)

Light expand, Light expand, Light expand until the radiance shines through my four lower bodies. See it can never recede, but keep it ever expanding. (Pause)

- I AM the source of all.
- I AM the power that answers every call.
- I AM the doer of God's will,
- I AM the divine plan and do it fulfill.
- I AM love, wisdom and power,
- I AM Cosmic Light in action each hour.

DAILY CONTEMPLATION FOR HEALTH & HEALING

I AM free, this hour, from pain, disease, limitation and distress, for I AM the perfection of God's eternal love, now manifesting in my mind, my body, my being, my world, and my affairs.

All the God-desires of my heart are now being drawn, by the magnetic power of God's love, into instantaneous and eternally-sustained manifestation in my being and world and I am now prepared to render my perfect service to life and freedom of all.

I AM the joyous expression of God's opulence, God's love, God's health, and happiness, and God-illumination, forever sustained and increasing in limitless supply to all.

I AM the healing heart of the Christ Presence, now active within me and all who seek thy light, restoring, renewing, illumining, and resurrecting the perfection of my divine self.

I AM the divine image of God, now manifesting that perfection in my being and world and for all the children of God, every one, everywhere, in his supreme name, forever.

RESURRECTION FLAME

Beloved Mighty Victorious Presence of God "I AM", thou beloved Immortal Threefold Flame of Eternal Truth within my beating heart, I call on the Holy Christ Selves of all mankind and the beloved Ascended Masters Jesus and Mother Mary,

Sweep the Flame of Resurrection through all my world today, Let its joyous, raising Presence ever with me stay! Sweep it through me constantly, renewing every part, Fulfilling all God's perfect plan that's held within my heart.

Surge the Resurrection Flame through everything in me, Let it now reveal the full perfection I should be. Let it make me young and lovely, healthy, too and wise Drawing forth God's power to bring sight to blinded eyes.

Let me use its power on those who cannot hear, Let that hearing be restored, perfect, crystal clear Let this Resurrection Flame bring balance to each mind That's lost its way, confused amid the shadows of mankind.

"I AM the resurrection and the life of all I need,"
Whether that be manifest as money, word or deed.
In short, the Resurrection Flame is God's great gift to me!
Oh, Holy Christ Self, help me use it, setting all Earth free!

HEALING

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Mighty Helios, Elohim of Purity, Astrea, Arcturus, Diana, Elohim of Peace, Archangels Michael, Raphael and Zadkiel, Goddess of Light, Kwan Yin, Ascended Master Jesus, Mother Mary, Nada, Ascended Masters Saint Germain, Godfre', and the healing angels,

I AM the law of forgiveness for this condition and for all imperfection everywhere. (3)

I AM the Flame of Resurrection renewing every atom of my four lower bodies. (3)

I AM the Healing Flame surging through my four lower bodies producing perfection. (3)

Blaze and sweep the Transmuting Violet Flame through me, purify all the energy and substance my four lower bodies. Flood forth Ascended Master Light Substance and golden healing currents of energy.

I AM perfect health now made manifest. (3)

Now visualize a stream of golden healing currents coming from the Threefold Flame in the heart pouring to the area that needs healing. See this golden light substance unlocking all obstructions to the normal flow of light substance to the area in need of healing.

BODY ELEMENTAL

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, beloved Maha Chohan and beloved Mother Mary,

Bless my body elemental for its service to me.

At the close of my Earth span, set it ever free.

Without its loving presence I would not even be.

Blessed body elemental ASCEND THOU WITH ME!

Beloved I AM (3)

By God's own hand(3)

I now command(3)

Do it today (3)

Do it to stay (3)

DECREE (Upon Awakening in the Morning)

Beloved Mighty Presence of God, "I AM", I love you! With all my heart, I thank you for your gifts of life, light, substance, intelligence and energy, made manifest through my world this day. See to it that I use these gifts ONLY in the service and expansion of thy mighty Light!

Make and keep every person, place, condition and thing I contact this day, permanently happier and more free because I passed this way. I consciously accept this done right now with full power! (Give three times with feeling)

DECREE (BEFORE RETIRING AT NIGHT)

Beloved Mighty Presence of God "I AM" I humbly and gratefully thank you for the use, today, of your most precious gift, my life. I call on the Law of Forgiveness for any and all mistakes I may have made, as well as any and all omissions of service I might have rendered life, had I been more alert and more harmonious.

Beloved Presence of God, "I AM" and beloved Mighty Serapis, Jesus and Kuthumi, take me tonight, while my physical body sleeps! Instruct me in the fullness of the Ascended Master understanding of the I AM Presence. See that I bring back that instruction clearly into my memory when I awake in the morning

Take me out to your Ascension Temples, and there let me assist those preparing for the ascension.

SEAL! SEAL! our dear Earth, her atmosphere, all her governments and her people in OCEANS of the Ascension Flame. Let its fiery essence penetrate and saturate them all, lifting and raising all life upon Earth out of everything human into all that is divine. Hold them there forever.

EMERGENCY DECREE*

The Light of God never fails (7)

* It alerts all members of the Great White Brotherhood of the existing emergency. Therefore, use this decree wisely and sparingly.

DECREE FOR RELEASING THE GOOD IN THE CAUSAL BODY

Beloved Presence of God "I AM",
Release the good in my Causal Body manifest today!
Release the good in my Causal Body on God's Fulfillment Ray!
Release the good in my Causal Body and bless all life God's way!
(Note: Giving this decree will not decrease the amount of the accumulated good in your Causal Body).

DAILY RE-CONSECRATION

Oh thou mighty supreme source of life, "I AM"! I consciously accept thee as the creator and giver of all things. I know that thou art the intelligent force in all life. I relinquish now all power to thee, oh beloved "I AM"!

I HEREBY RE-DEDICATE AND RE-CONSECRATE MYSELF TO SERVE YOU AND THE GREAT WHITE BROTHERHOOD TO FULFILL MY DIVINE PLAN AND THAT FOR THE EARTH. (3)

I have spoken,
I have decreed,
In His holy name, "I AM"

THE CHELA (Poem)

Awaiting the word of the Master Hearing his glorious song; Discerning his slightest whisper, Amidst Earth's bustling throng.

Seeing the Master's signal— Acting upon his will; Holding a God-like silence, And then, IN LOVE, FULFILL.

ORDER OF SERVICE FOR GROUP DECREES* PREPARATION

Since under divine law concerning these instructions there may not be a charge made for them, it is well to have a box with a slot in the top near or by the door. The box can be marked, "Love Gifts." Thus, the students have an opportunity to give a balance for the instructions received and to share the expenses of the group leader in preparing the meeting.

If candles are used, they should be lit from left to right of the director (as he faces the candles) and extinguished in the opposite direction.

Note: For additional information on the subject of "Group Activity", see *21 Essential Lessons*

ACOLYTE SERVICE

Play appropriate music, such as "Bells of the Meadows." Group leader gives the following invocation:

"All hail to thee, thou all-pervading light of the universe, the supreme source of life, "I AM." We kneel within our hearts in recognition of the light of the Cosmos, as we draw forth these flames representing the three-fold activity of life as exemplified by the Holy Trinity:

> the Father, (lighting blue candle) the Son, (lighting yellow candle) and the Holy Spirit (lighting pink candle)

"Beloved Cosmic I AM Presence, come now and assert thy rightful authority in the four lower vehicles of all of thy children and show us how to reverently and humbly express the perfectly balanced activity of love, wisdom and power which thou art.

"Oh Light Supreme, we acknowledge thee in all life, and we give gratitude to the glorious Cosmic and Ascended Beings, as we invoke them and the great angelic host to amplify the energy which we release in this class, and may that light expand, expand and expand as it travels throughout the universe, ever widening the borders of thy kingdom, in fulfillment of thy will, 'I AM!'"

INVOCATION 1

Beloved mighty, victorious Presence of God "I AM", the source that is anchored within each of our hearts, we love and adore you. We acknowledge you to be the owner and giver of all life, our intelligence, our substance, our all!

We call on beloved Archangels Michael, Uriel, Zadkiel, Elohim Arcturus and Ascended Master Saint Germain:

As we pour out our deepest love and gratitude to the Ascended Host of Light for bringing forth this teaching, blaze, blaze, blaze the Transmuting Violet Flame of Freedom's Love through and around us, eternally sustained.

Seal us in your light and love and power of victorious accomplishment. Guard and protect us, guide and direct us and give us the illumination of truth that shall set us free!

INVOCATION 2

In the name of the Cosmic I AM Presence, for all mankind, [we now consciously give the authority for the Earth to the Ascended Masters and Cosmic Beings to bring into manifestation the divine plan fulfilled.] 3x

Mighty I AM Presence, Elohim Hercules, beloved Ascended Masters, [charge and amplify, charge and amplify, charge and amplify all our decrees and songs with the power of the Cosmic Light and double them twice each hour.] 3x

Beloved I AM Presence, manifest here thy love, wisdom and power. Be thus sustained and ever-expanding. Make all feel thy mighty reality. Reveal the eternal truth and law of life. Enfold us in thy wondrous radiance, and take command of our four lower bodies. Let all see thee and hear thy voice clearly. Blaze forth throughout the Earth and set mankind forever free.

The immortal Threefold Flame is in this room and within each one's heart and physical body. Let all that is human keep silent before it. May the outer self be at peace, ever humble in willing, illumined obedience, accept, love and adore it— this, our supreme source of life.

INVOCATION 3

Beloved mighty, victorious Presence of God "I AM", the source that is anchored within each of our hearts, we love and adore you. We acknowledge you to be the owner and giver of all life, our intelligence, our substance, our all!

Beloved Ascended Host of Light and Ascended Master Serapis Bey, Archangel Gabriel and Hope, Beloved Elohim of Purity and Mighty Astrea, and all who serve on the Fourth Ray, we send our hearts' call to you. Come and be with us at this class and charge us with your purity, Resurrection Flame and those powers which will help us to our ascension at the close of this embodiment.

Keep us sealed in your Light, love and power of victorious accomplishment. Blaze your Light and love before us and prepare the way that we may walk in the path of Light. Guard and protect us, guide and direct us and give us the illumination of truth which shall set us free! Let us manifest and be your Light in action at all times, and pour thy divine qualities through us to bless all life we contact.

INVOCATION 4

Beloved mighty, victorious Presence of God "I AM", the source that is anchored within each of our hearts, we love and adore you. We acknowledge you to be the owner and giver of all life, our intelligence, our substance, our all!

We call on beloved Archangel Michael, Elohim Hercules, Archangel Jophiel, Elohim Cassiopea, Archangel Chamuel Elohim Orion and the Maha Chohan:

Seal us in the mighty balanced activity of your love wisdom and power of perfection and let the pressure of your love enable our Holy Christ Selves to take command of us RIGHT NOW, eternally sustained.

We call to our Holy Christ Selves and those of all mankind to COME FORTH NOW, and take full command and control of each outer personality until the divine plan for all is manifest and forever sustained. We thank you, it is done!

VIOLET FLAME DECREES

1. Beloved Victorious Presence of God "I AM" in us, beloved Saint Germain and all who serve on the Seventh Ray!

Blaze, blaze the most dynamic action of your all-powerful Violet Transmuting Flame from the heart of the Earth up, causing this to form a gigantic Maltese Cross.

Let this flame extend out through the Earth and her atmosphere for 10,000 feet, purifying, illumining, healing and raising forever the entire planet itself and all her evolutions. Make our dear Earth FREE-DOM'S STAR as quickly as possible, in spirit and in truth.

We consciously accept this done RIGHT NOW with full power, eternally sustained, all-powerfully active and ever-expanding.

2. Beloved presence of God, "I AM", beloved Threefold Flame of Eternal Truth within our hearts! Beloved Saint Germain and Jesus and all Great Beings and Powers and Legions of Light, angels and activities of the Sacred Fire, by the magnetic power of the Sacred Fire vested in me, I decree:

Blaze and sustain God's Violet Flame through all my world to-day *

Beloved I AM! (3)

By freedom's hand! (3)

Give quick release! (3)

Bring instant peace! (3)

By Sacred Fire! (3)

It's God's desire! (3)

Dissolve the human! (3)

My world illumine! (3)

I command it done today!

I command it done to stay!

I command it done God's way!

Beloved I AM! (3)

*(repeat before each line)

3. In the name of my beloved mighty I AM Presence, I call on beloved Helios and Vesta, Elohim Arcturus and Diana, Archangels Zadkiel and Amethyst, the Great Divine Director, Kwan Yin, Saint Germain, Angels of the Violet Flame, Violet Flame Temples over Cuba and in the realms of light:

Blaze up through me now your mighty Violet Consuming Flame, in its most powerful, dynamic activity. Transmute cause, effect, record and memory forever of all human concepts, desires and feelings in my being and world, and every mistake for which my outer self is responsible Replace it with Ascended Master substance of light, love, purity and perfection; and hold your dominion within me forever!

Violet Flame, blaze and transmute all human into perfection

(between lines below)

Each passing hour, (3)

By cosmic power. (3)

More intensely, (3)

Set all now free! (3)

From Realms of Light, (3)

To outer sight. (3)

Make all things right, (3)

The hearts delight. [3]

By Violet Ray, (3)

In freedom's way. (3)

Do it God's way! (3)

Do it to stay! (3).

4. I AM blazing, blazing, blazing

(between lines below)

Through Violet Flame now manifest,

Violet Flame this is our request.

Violet Flame of resurrection,

The flame and fire of perfection.

I AM its full release!

I AM its cosmic peace!
I AM its cosmic light!
I AM its cosmic might!
Filling my world with Violet Fire
Filling my world with divine desire,
Setting me and all Earth free,
Violet Fire, our love and thanks to thee.

5. Violet Flame from the mighty "I AM" (3) In thy transmuting power of the Violet Fire of freedom's love

(between lines below) Through us surge and surge All now purge and purge Through us blaze and blaze All now raise and raise. Descend now this hour Blaze with cosmic power All our worlds control Full harmony hold. Fill my world with Violet Fire until it manifests God's desire. I AM the being of Violet Fire, I AM the purity of God's desire. Now take full command Make all understand Surge through every land, Thy freedom expand.

Expand, expand, expand, I AM, I AM, I AM.

- 6. I AM a being of Violet Fire, I AM the purity of God's desire. 3x
- 7. Play a Strauss Waltz and visualize the Violet Flame blazing through each group member.

LIGHT DESCEND DECREE

In the name, power and authority of the Mighty I AM Presence, beloved Helios and Vesta, the Goddess of Light, the Maha Chohan and the powers and Legions of Light throughout infinity—

I invoke the Light of God that never fails and the cosmic peace that passeth the understanding of the human mind. Into every nation of the Earth, I command into action here and now:

LIGHT DESCEND! LIGHT DESCEND!

LIGHT DESCEND, DESCEND!

LIGHT DEFEND! LIGHT DEFEND!

LIGHT DEFEND, DEFEND!

LIGHT COMMAND! LIGHT COMMAND!

LIGHT COMMAND, COMMAND!

LIGHT I AM! LIGHT I AM!

LIGHT I AM! I AM! I AM!

Give this decree 3 times. Then instead of "Light", say "Peace" and "Love."

DECREES FOR SUPPLY

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, beloved Lord Maha Chohan,

Release your supply of money and every good thing to me and to all who are constructive, fulfilling the divine plan.

I AM the resurrection and the life of my ever-present divine supply.

I AM the limitless supply flowing through me in the service to the Light.

I AM Ascended Master Wealth manifest in my world to produce perfection and to fulfill the divine plan.

I AM the Ascended Masters' full acceptance of this.

I AM the Ascended Masters' full direction of this.

I AM the Ascended Masters' full manifestation of this.

DECREE FOR HEALTH

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, I call on beloved Helios, Archangel Raphael, Ascended Masters Jesus, Mother Mary, Leto and Diana, to direct your resurrecting Flame of Healing hourly through my mind and feelings, and through every organ and part of my body, to keep me in perfect health—at all times to be a fit instrument for the service of the Ascended Host. What I ask for myself, I ask also for my loved ones and all under this radiation.

Send your legions of healing angels to all hospitals in this country and all countries of the world. I thank you.

DECREE FOR DISPERSING FOCI OF EPIDEMICS AND DISEASES

Blessed beloved presence of God, I AM in us and blessed beloved Astrea! LOCK your Cosmic Circle and Sword of Blue Flame of thousands of Suns from the Great Central Sun, in, through, and around all plagues, germs, epidemics and disease. Close in upon them all and transmute, transmute, transmute them all, cause, effect, record and memory, before they can act, approach, or encroach upon life longer. Replace them by the Cosmic Threefold Flame, in the full power of the three-times-three.

(Repeat the above three times, and then say:)

"and the FULL POWER of the thousand fold Flame of the Sacred Love of the Sacred Fire, in overwhelming Cosmic Power, doubled each instant of each hour, ruling in all God's supremacy and obedience, until all are ascended and free—BELOVED I AM! BELOVED I AM!"

(NOTE: This decree is the one referred to by beloved Meta in a discourse as having been so efficacious in the dissipating of foci of plagues, germs, epidemics, and disease. It was used faithfully in all meetings of Geraldine Innocente's group for over 15 years. When you give it, you will have the full benefit of all that gathered momentum to act much more quickly for you, and all for whom you call.)

A DECREE FOR FINANCES

I AM! (3) the Resurrection and the Life of my (our) FINANCES NOW MADE MANIFEST AND SUSTAINED BY GRACE! (9 times)

Beloved Presence of God in me (us) and beloved Maha Chohan,

Release your money!

Cash in hand!

Release your money!

From your hand!

Protect me in its use

To set life free!

Seal your money

In God's use eternally!

BELOVED I AM! (3)

CIRCLE AND SWORD OF BLUE FLAME

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Archangel Michael, Angels of Blue Flame and beloved Ascended Lady Master Astrea,

LOCK YOUR COSMIC CIRCLE AND SWORD OF BLUE FLAME in, through and around all misqualified energy around me and all mankind. (3)

Seize and render this energy ineffective. Transmute, transmute it all, causes, cores, effect, record and memory! (3)

Illumine, illumine, illumine the source and see that this energy may not act or encroach upon life any longer! (3)

Protect forever every student in this group and all under this radiation and hold each one steady in the effort to reach perfection. (3)

DECREE FOR CHELAS

Beloved mighty, victorious Presence of God "I AM", the source that is anchored within each of our hearts, we love and adore you. We acknowledge you to be the owner and giver of all life, our intelligence, our substance, our all!

We call on beloved Archangel Michael and on all Ascended Beings who serve on the First Ray and especially on Elohim Hercules and Ascended Master El Morya.

As we pour out our deepest love and gratitude to the Ascended Host of Light for bringing forth this teaching, blaze, blaze, blaze your Blue Flame of God's Will through and around us, eternally sustained.

Seal us in your light and love and power of victorious accomplishment. Guard and protect us, guide and direct us and give us the illumination of truth that shall set us free!

DECREE FOR PROTECTION OF CHELAS

BELOVED LORD MICHAEL, ARCHANGEL OF PROTECTION, WE INVOKE YOUR SPECIAL PROTECTION UPON THE SHEPHERDS OF THE RACE AGAINST—

- 1. The pressures of energy of other lifestreams who seek to benefit by the service developed through these shepherds for selfish purposes.
- 2. The pressures of conceit, arrogance and spiritual pride which ofttimes result from the development of so-called super-natural powers.
- 3. The pressures of the unseen (but insidious) influences of those forces which oppose the expansion of the light through these shepherds of the race.
- 4. The pressures of untransmuted carnal desires that lie dormant with the shepherds of the race, and which rise to the surface when they take upon themselves this special service as light-bearers of the world.
- 5. The pressures of self-depreciation and depression which overcome the valiant shepherds in times of trial, seeming failure, and delay.

- 6. The pressures of unpleasant associations through past karmic ties of a disagreeable nature, when the shepherds are required to serve with certain individuals.
- 7. The pressures of sickness, disease, and decay, not only to their own forms, but that of their loved ones.
- 8. The pressures of financial limitation which do not allow them full freedom to develop the divine ideas given into their keeping.
- 9. The pressures of opposition in family association when the shepherds (through karmic ties) are forced to live with those of lesser light.
- 10. The pressures of succumbing to the will of other human beings for personal gain.
- 11. The pressures of skepticism which form the mass mind of the race they would serve, and which is often deeply rooted in their own etheric bodies through disappointments of a spiritual nature in many past ages.
- 12. The pressure of the mass consciousness of alreadyestablished and accepted religious orders which oppose violently a new endeavor.
- 13. The pressures of flattery which inflate the ego and leave the spiritual self weaker rather than stronger, by reason of their insincere bolstering of the personality, usually for someone else's gain.
- 14. The pressures of gossip which, accepted by the consciousness of the shepherds, cause distrust, suspicion and disintegration in themselves and among their fellowmen.
- 15. The pressures of desiring to love one part of life more than another, wherein IMPERSONAL service is not attained or sustained.
- 16. The pressures of disapproval when a shepherd has to serve in a physical body of a race which is not pure Aryan.
- 17. The pressures of accepting through the five senses human appearances and allowing those appearances to become stronger than the God-design the shepherds are endeavoring to externalize through themselves and all of Earth's evolutions.

Replace all these pressures by your cosmic pressure of faith in God, in man and your cosmic protection of all that is good in every realm of expression. I accept this done right now—beloved I AM! (3)

VICTORY FOR THE EARTH

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Great Central Sun, Helios and Vesta, Elohim Hercules, the Elohim of Purity, Beloved Astrea, Archangel Michael, Ascended Master El Morya, K-17, Saint Germain and your legions of Light,

Seize, hold inactive and transmute all thoughtforms of misqualified energy in and around me and in and around all mankind. Transmute, transmute, transmute them all. Replace them with Ascended Master substance, illumination, love, and constructive motives.

Remove all discarnate entities out of the atmosphere of Earth and into the Temples of Light and Temples of Learning. Seal each one in a violet Maltese Cross of Saint Germain.

Withhold and withdraw all power from all destructive forces and from all individuals with destructive intent. (3)

Let the powers of Light descend unto Earth and take full command. (3)

Cut the Earth free, give her cosmic victory. (3)

PROTECTION FOR THE EARTH

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Great Central Sun, Helios and Vesta, Immaculata the Silent Watcher, Elohim Hercules, Archangel Michael, Ascended Master El Morya, K-17 and your legions of Light,

Release, release, release the necessary protection for the Earth and protect, protect, protect the Earth and all thereon that is constructive; (3)

Beloved I AM, (3)

By God's own hand. (3)

By Cosmic Blue Ray. (3)

And to do it today, (3)

And do it to stay. (3)

DECREE FOR PROTECTION OF INCOMING BUDDHAS

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence. Protect our little Buddhas by our Michael's Sword of Blue,

Purify and illumine their home and parents (3)

Beloved I AM!

By Christ command!

By freedom's hand!

By Michael's hand!

By purity's hand!

By Buddha's hand!

By freedom's love and name!

By purity's Love and name!

By Michael's love and name!

By Buddha's love and name!

By Violet Fire!

By the Spiral Blue Flame!

By the Sword of Blue flame!

By the Threefold flame!

By Cosmic I AM Fire!

It's God's desire!

Help them fulfill their vows!

I command this physically manifest!

I accept this physically manifest!

I AM this physically manifest,

I AM the victory of the ascended Jesus Christ

Beloved I AM! (3)

Note: There are now (August, 1957) seven such Buddhas who have been accepted by the Karmic Board to help the human race.

PROTECTION FOR THE UNITED STATES

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Beloved Helios and Vesta, Elohim Hercules, Archangel Michael, Ascended Master El Morya, K-17 and your legions of Light, envelope the United States and the three Americas with a wall and canopy of Light. Hold control and direct the governments and all people to produce perfection for all mankind, eternally sustained and ever expanding.

Silently visualize a wall of blue light around and over the United States, Alaska, the Hawaiian Islands, Canada and Central and South America.

(At present, the United States represents the spiritual leadership of the Earth).

DECREE FOR CHELAS OF SAINT GERMAIN

1. Beloved mighty victorious Presence of God "I AM" and beloved Ascended Masters Saint Germain, El Morya and the Maha Chohan!

In the name of the Presence of God which I AM, and by the magnetic power of the Sacred Fire vested in me, I DECREE:

SEAL, (3) me and all under this radiation in beloved Saint Germain's Purple Fiery Heart and Luminous Presence.

Make me and all mankind FEEL, FEEL, this instant and forever, ALL his limitless GOD-CONTROLLED ENTHUSIASM FOR THE LIGHT, HIS ILLUMINED OBEDIENCE to that light, his DEVOTION to that light, and his DETERMINATION to stand by that light. Keep this eternally sustained, all-powerfully active, and ever-expanding, until this Earth, and all of mankind, are wholly ascended and free!

2. Take immediate and complete control of me, and make and keep me a perfect grail and conductor through which the Ascended Host may pour at any time their love, blessings and assistance to mankind.

Use my light to the fullest possible extent. Draw those to me who have unselfish motives and who are willing to serve the Light. Remove all pride, arrogance and personal ambition.

Let this Light expand in divine love until the Earth and all her evolutions are wholly ascended and free. I have spoken in God's holy name, I AM.

CALL FOR EXPANSION OF THE TEACHINGS

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, beloved Helios and Vesta, Archangels Michael and Jophiel, the Karmic Board, Lord Gautama, Ascended Masters Saint Germain, El Morya, the Maha Chohan, Jesus, and Mother Mary,

Release, release, release dispensations, (3)

Through the Cosmic Light,

To remove Earth's plight.

Draw all to this teaching who can be benefited, and who are willing to render the service so necessary in this moment of crisis! (3)

See that the books of the original teachings of the Great White Brotherhood are translated into all languages and distributed through the world! See that all who are ready to accept this beautiful teaching have the opportunity to do so!

Let God's will on Earth now be done, through cosmic Light from the Central Sun. (3)

I AM the victory of the expansion of Saint Germain's CAUSE OF FREEDOM! (3)

DECREE FOR ADDITIONAL CHELAS

Beloved presence of God "I AM", I call to the Ascended Masters and especially the beloved Masters Saint Germain and El Morya.

I command (3) this instant and forever through me and all mankind to balance the gifts of instruction and illumination given to the outer consciousness of mankind. Make and keep us all worthy of this great assistance and at all times the open door through which the will of God may manifest.

Consecrate the energies through all of our four lower bodies to command and compel the divine plan fulfilled. Intensify and expand without limit, the sincere interest of those receiving the benefit and blessing of your counsel and association, so that each one may return to life in loving impersonal service at least ten times more Godqualified energy than was originally invested in opening the spiritual door to the octave of the Ascended Masters. So be it!

DECREE TO REMOVE PRIDE

(in accordance with beloved Diana's promptings)

Beloved mighty victorious presence of God I AM in us! We call on beloved Ascended Lady Master Diana to take complete command, control and possession of the thoughts and feelings of *all* who belong to the various evolutions of this planet, and REMOVE, REMOVE, REMOVE, this instant and forever, all pride, arrogance, stubbornness and all lack of loving, willing cooperation with the divine plan for our Earth, as designed by its God-parents, beloved Helios and Vesta!

Replace (3) these imperfect qualities and habits of thought and feeling by the Elohim of Purity's immaculate concept of the divine plan and our own God-desire and ability to hold to the perfection of this design!

Charge (3), into our thought and feeling worlds, and those of all mankind, the cosmic feeling of God-courtesy of our divine parents—Helios and Vesta!

Saturate the atmosphere of this planet with *your* feelings of loving cooperation with the purity and perfection of life, so that mankind may breathe in those qualities and outpicture all that their God-Presence originally meant them to be!

We consciously accept this done RIGHT NOW, and we thank you without limit for your loving assistance to us and your protection at all times. SO BE IT!

DECREE FOR CHELAS TO KEEP HARMONY AND UNITY

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, I call on beloved Archangel Chamuel, Elohim Orion, Elohim Tranquility, Cosmic Being Lady Venus, God Harmony, beloved Maha Chohan, beloved El Morya, Saint Germain, Paul the Venetian, beloved Jesus, Kuthumi, and Lady Master Nada, to CHARGE, CHARGE, CHARGE, me, my family and all chelas of the Great White Brotherhood with whatever illumination, determination, courage, strength, unity and power of divine love are required, to COMPEL UNINTERRUPTED HARMONY TO MANIFEST constantly in, through, and around us, especially in our emotional body.

Please see to it that this state of uninterrupted harmony is forever sustained.

> Beloved I AM! I now command! Do it Today! Do it to stay!

CONSTANCY IN SERVICE

In the name, love, wisdom, power and authority of my own beloved Presence of God "I AM", I call directly to the beautiful Archaii CONSTANCE to answer this call for me, intensifying it without limit every day, until I am wholly ascended and free:

Make and keep me constant Beloved I AM, to Thee! Grateful for thy Violet Fire Whose use now sets me free.

Make and keep me constant, In my willingness to serve. With oceans of forgiving love Held always in reserve.

Make and keep me constant, When the human wants to quit. Make me strong, courageous, And master over it!

Make and keep me constant, To the very best in me, Giving joyous service In freedom's buoyancy.

Make and keep me constant, In faith, dissolving fear. Let me live in "listening grace" And feel the Master near!

Make and keep me const*ant,*From love no more to roam;
Until my task is finished
And my Presence calls me home.

TRUTH AND ILLUMINATION

Beloved mighty I AM Presence, Archangels Raphael and Jophiel, Elohim Vista and Cassiopea, beloved Vesta, Pallas Athena, Hilarion, Jesus, Lanto, El Morya, Saint Germain, Kuthumi, the Brotherhood of Truth, Brothers of the Golden Robe, Angels of Truth and Angels of Illumination,

Release, release, release ways of illumination men know not of, and illumine, illumine, illumine them now in one mighty stroke. Give them the gifts of discrimination and let them discern the truth about this teaching. Let them know their divine plan and how best to manifest it. Let them understand that service is the law of life and that only through impersonal service the ascension is possible.

COMMAND THE OUTER SELF

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Great Divine Director, beloved Ascended Masters Mary and Jesus, take command of each individual, assist in maintaining harmony and peace within the four lower bodies and stop all destructive use of free will. Bring all into obedience, thus the divine plan fulfill.

DECREE TO RECOGNIZE TRUTH

In the name and authority of my own beloved I AM Presence, I call to the beloved Vesta , beloved Pallas Athena , beloved Raphael, and beloved Hilarion and to the Brotherhood at Crete:

CHARGE, CHARGE, the beautiful green Flame of COSMIC CHRIST TRUTH INTO THE CAUSE AND CORE of every shadow of human creation!

CHARGE, CHARGE the green flame of cosmic Christ TRUTH INTO ALL STUDENTS UNDER THIS RADIATION and give them the power of discrimination so much needed at this time.

Beloved I AM.

I now command!

Do it today!

Do it to stay!

PROTECTION FOR YOUNG PEOPLE

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, and beloved Ascended Master Kuthumi, project your mystic mantle of golden light into the feeling worlds of those young people for whom it is possible in America and throughout the world. See, that through this action they may have the protection so much needed for their morality, for their courage and strength to come into the Light and stand by it.

Beloved I AM

By God's own hand

Do it today,

Do it to stay

In the White Brotherhood's love and name, By the power of the Threefold Flame.

STOP DESTRUCTIVE USE OF FREE WILL

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Great Central Sun, Helios and Vesta, Immaculata the Silent Watcher, Elohim Hercules, the Elohim of Purity, Beloved Astrea, Archangels Michael and Raphael, Ascended Master El Morya, K-17 and your legions of Light,

[Seize all energy meant for war,

Purify it cause and core,

Use this energy free from hate

to raise the Earth to God-estate] 3x

[Stop all destructive use of free will]. 3x

Withhold and withdraw all power

from all destructive forces

and from all individuals with destructive intent.

I AM the full acceptance of this, made manifest now, all powerfully active, world enfolding, ever expanding and eternally sustained.

RESURRECTION FLAME

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, beloved Ascended Masters Mary and Jesus, thy Resurrection Flame in and through us surge and sweep in, sweep in,

Thy full resurrection
All of thy perfection,
Thy perfect health maintain,
And in us ever reign.
Thy perfect comfort give
And make us fully live.
Give us thy perfect ease,
And hold eternal peace.

"I AM" the life resurrecting this body into perfection (3)

DECREE FOR THE WATER ELEMENT

Beloved Mighty Presence of God I AM", oh thou beloved Immortal Threefold Flame of Eternal Truth within my heart, Holy Christ Selves of all mankind, beloved Mighty Neptune, beloved Maha Chohan, beloved Kwan Yin, beloved Saint Germain, beloved Arcturus and beloved Zadkiel and all who have to do with the beings of nature and forces of the elements.

In the name of all mankind, we thank you for the water element. We call the mightiest blessings of God-gratitude upon that element for its limitless service to life on Earth. (3)

Bless the water element with the full power of purification by the Violet Fire of Freedom's Love and the Pink Adoration Flame of Gratitude, sustaining it forever. Illumine the people of this planet at once concerning their great need for this element and all the service it has given them through the ages. Let all mankind now consciously express such gratitude to and for the water element that they make it their devoted friend and co-worker and thus avoid as much distress as possible, should world changes be compelled to take place.

We consciously accept this done right now with full power.

DECREE TO BLESS SYLPHS

Beloved mighty victorious presence of God I AM in me! Oh, thou beloved Immortal Threefold Flame of Eternal Truth within my heart, Holy Christ Selves of all mankind, beloved Helios and Vesta, beloved Aries, Thor and Lord Maha Chohan!

In your name, love, wisdom, power and authority, I ask you to bless, bless the sylphs of the air, without limit, in ways the unascended consciousness of mankind does not know and cannot understand.

Purify these beloved beings, who have served mankind so long and have labored under the weight of mankind's discord and impurity. Seal each one, this instant and forever, in an oval of Violet Transmuting Flame, at least three times larger than their own size, and keep that oval of Violet Flame filled with the fragrance of violets.

Expand that blessing a thousand-fold more each day, until the atmosphere of our planet is crystal clear, and every sylph is eternally FREE from that which God never meant to be!

I consciously accept this done RIGHT NOW with full power! (3)

PURIFICATION OF THE GAS BELTS

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Great Central Sun, Helios and Vesta, Elohim Hercules, the Elohim of Purity, Beloved Astrea, Archangels Michael and Raphael, Ascended Master El Morya, K-17, Saint Germain and your legions of Light,

In your cosmic authority, control all the energy in the gas belts within the earth and transmute, transmute, transmute it all. Replace it with golden Light substance, becoming pure, metallic gold which radiates through and purifies all substance not of the Light. Transmute all discord placed upon elementals and release them back into divine service.

(Stand silently for a few moments with arms at your sides, visualize and feel the golden light substance radiating down from the Realms of Light through you into the gas belts).

DECREE TO HELP THE EARTH

Beloved Helios and Vesta, we invoke, in mercy, the assistance of every planet in every galaxy which allowed even one laggard from their planet the hospitality of the Earth as a schoolroom! Send Divine Beings from those planets to help in the redemption of the laggards and their distorted creations, right now!

[I consciously accept this done, right now, with full power!] 3x

PURIFY EARTH

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Ascended Masters Aries, Thor, Neptune, Lunara, Virgo, Pelleur, Lord Maha Chohan, Prince Oromasis, all salamanders, sylphs, undines and gnomes,

Prevent, prevent all floods forever!

Prevent, prevent, prevent all forest fires forever!

Prevent, prevent all storms forever!

Prevent, prevent, prevent all earthquakes forever!

Protect, protect our crops forever!

[Purify, purify, purify the air water and earth and keep them clear and pure.] 3x

Beloved I AM, (3)

By God's own hand, (3)

Do it today, (3)

Do it to stay.(3)

DECREES FOR THE FOUR ELEMENTS

FIRE

BELOVED HELIOS AND VESTA, ZARATHUSTRA, Prince Oromasis and all who are in charge of the fire element, we love, bless and thank you and all the salamanders for your service to us and all mankind through the ages. We ask that all destructive activities of the fire element be transmuted into the Sacred Fire of God's love to bring eternally sustained purity and perfection everywhere on our Earth now!

BELOVED PRESENCE OF GOD I AM AND BELOVED ASTREA, draw within your Circle and Sword of Blue Flame the cause and core of all fear of fire, fear of air, fear of water and fear of the earth, and transmute it into the illumination and Ascended Masters' understanding and use of the Sacred Fire.

I AM! (3) the Ascended Masters' Law of Forgiveness of all misuse of the fire element by me and all mankind through the ages.

AIR

BELOVED PRESENCE OF GOD I AM AND BELOVED THOR AND ARIES, we love, bless and thank you. We bless the north winds, the south winds, east winds, west winds and the sylphs of the air who are your messengers, asking that all destructive activities of the air be transmuted by the Violet Transmuting Flame, and that never again will the air element participate in cyclones, tornadoes or any destructive activity. We thank you and consciously accept this done right now, eternally sustained, ever-expanding and world encompassing, until all are wholly ascended and free.

I AM! (3) the Ascended Masters' Law of Forgiveness of all misuse of the air element by me or any of mankind, in or out of embodiment.

WATER

BELOVED PRESENCE OF GOD I AM, BELOVED NEPTUNE AND LU-NARA, we love, bless and thank you and all the beings of the water element, all the undines who have ever served us, are serving us now or ever will serve us and mankind.

We bless the water element everywhere and the blessed undines who are your messengers, asking that all destructive activities of the water element be transmuted by the Violet Transmuting Flame, and that never again will the water element participate in hurricanes, typhoons, tidal waves, or any destructive activity. We thank you and consciously accept this done right now, eternally sustained, everexpanding and world encompassing, until all are wholly ascended and free.

I AM! (3) the Ascended Masters' Law of Forgiveness of all misuse of the water element by me and every lifestream, in or out of embodiment, and all who ever consciously or unconsciously used the water element destructively.

EARTH

BELOVED PRESENCE OF GOD I AM, BELOVED PELLEUR AND VIR-GO, we love bless and thank you and the beings of the earth. We bless every atom of the earth and all beings who work with it, the gnomes and spirits of nature, asking that all destructive activities of the earth element be transmuted by the Violet Fire and that never again will the earth element participate in earthquakes or any destructive activity. We thank you and consciously accept this done right now, eternally sustained, ever-expanding and world encompassing, until all are wholly ascended and free.

I AM! (3) the Ascended Masters' Law of Forgiveness and Transmuting Flame of all misuse of the Earth's gifts, all the tortures, consciously or unconsciously, inflicted upon the gnomes and spirits of nature by myself and all mankind.

RELEASE ELEMENTALS

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Lord Himalaya and Lord Maha Chohan,

(Release all elementals in animal form) 3 back into their original perfection.

Transmute, transmute transmute all misqualified energy in and around them,

Free all elementals so they do not have to come into animal form again,

Decrease all litters, and decrease the size of all litters

Beloved I AM, (3)

By God's own hand, (3)

Do it today, (3)

Do it to stay. (3)

WEATHER

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Lord Himalaya, Lord Maha Chohan, Ascended Master Tabor, Ascended Master Meru, Lord of the Swiss Alps, Ascended Masters Aries, Thor, Neptune, Lunara, Virgo, Pelleur, Lord Maha Chohan, Prince Oromasis, all salamanders, sylphs, undines and gnomes,

[Control, control the weather, release cool (warm) currents of air and keep it so.]3x

[Bring about and sustain the right distribution of moisture all over the world.] 3x

Beloved I AM,

By God's own hand,

Do it today,

Do it to stay.

UNITED STATES ELECTIONS

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, Archangel Michael, Mighty Victory, Ascended Masters El Morya and Saint Germain and K-17,

Raise up the right candidates in the coming U.S. elections. (3)

See that the Ascended Master candidates become victorious. Mighty I AM Presence and Christ Self of every voter, take command and act through the outer self according to the divine plan.

Keep the United States government free from foreign influence. Reveal to the public and render inactive all foreign lobbyists and all groups that have the objective to undermine and change the Constitution of this country and who are opposed to the original divine plan for this country. (3)

Reveal all that is hidden and not of the Light. Prevent, prevent, prevent the changing of the Constitution of the United States from the original divine intent. (3)

Withhold and withdraw all power from all destructive forces and from all individuals with destructive intent. (3)

Friends of freedom, arise, arise, arise!

To the call of the mighty I AM

Set our country free, and all her people free,

Set the rest of the world free and all her people free.

INVOCATION FOR INCOMING ENLIGHTENED SOULS

Beloved Immortal Presence of God, "I AM", beloved Maha Chohan, beloved Jesus and Mother Mary!

I make the call that all advanced illumined lifestreams be taken into the Purification Temples of Mercy at inner levels and there bathed in the sacred love of the Sacred Fire of the Violet flame.

Enfold these precious souls now and forever in your Ascended Master consciousness. Let them embody in the full conscious use of their own eternal divine memory, and make them immune to the passions, appetites, human tendencies and karma of family, race and nation.

Beloved Angels of Mercy and Compassion! Establish a spiritual canopy of your own light and love around the homes and families through which these souls are to embody. Create and sustain a pure, harmonious, spiritual and opulent atmosphere around them. Raise up those parents and guardians who can be trusted with the care and protection of those precious lifestreams during their young years.

Place a cherubim in the aura of as many as possible to keep them reminded of their vow taken and the responsibility they owe to life in being selected as guardians and protectors of the human race. We thank thee that this is done.

PURIFY SOULS OF INCOMING CHILDREN

Beloved Mighty Presence of God, "I AM", and the beloved Elohim of Purity, Archangel Gabriel, Kwan Yin, Lord Maha Chohan, Jesus and Mother Mary, Saint Germain, and the Karmic Board. Through the magnetic power of the Sacred Fire vested in me, I decree,

Grant beloved Mother Mary's petition to purify the souls destined to come to Earth this year through physical birth. Give them bodies as perfect as possible; clear, intelligent minds and dispositions willing to give loving cooperation with that which will be for their highest good. Purify and illumine the homes, parents, teachers and guardians into whose atmosphere they come. Place a cherubim in the aura of as many as possible and give them the strength to fulfill their vow taken before coming into embodiment.

Beloved Lord Michael! By the help of the Angels of the Sword of Blue Flame, give invincible protection against everything that would attempt to dim their light or delay their victory. If possible, give them the victory of the ascension at the close of this embodiment.

We accept this done RIGHT NOW with full power.

INVOCATION FOR NEW-BORN CHILD

Beloved Presence of God, "I AM"! Beloved Immortal Threefold Flame of Life within the heart of this child! Beloved Maha Chohan, from whose hands it has received the first holy breath in this embodiment! Beloved Ascended Masters Jesus and Mary!

In the name of his own Holy Christ Self, we establish a cosmic rhythmic pulsation of the sacred love of the Sacred Fire in, through and around this child, its parents, and the home in which they dwell, consuming all unhappy etheric records established through karmic links of the past. Let this child, its parents, family and home, manifest now and forever the perfection and happiness that was exemplified by the holy family of Judea.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the eyes of this child, and in his name decree that only God-perfection shall ever register through them.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the ears of this child. Let them be open to hear the voice of God, the promptings of his Presence, and let them ever remain non-recordant to human dissonance.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the mind of this child, that divine discrimination may illumine every activity of his life expression.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the lips of this child, that the wisdom of the Holy Spirit in speech and song be the only sound that issues therefrom.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the heart of this child, and in his name decree that the love, wisdom and power of the Threefold Flame be its only directing Presence.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the hands of this child, that they may be used to comfort life wherever the lifestream contacts it.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the feet of this child, that understanding and good works may accompany his footsteps wherever they carry him.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless each atom and cell of his physical body and every organ through which the body elemental functions, with the perfection of the divine plan fulfilled.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the body elemental of this child and ask that its service to life through this lifestream may be performed in perfect divine order, and that it may receive its freedom at the end of this embodiment, along with the soul it serves.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the four lower bodies of this child—the mental, emotional, etheric and physical. Let perfect balance be manifested through them, now and forever.

In the name of the ascended Jesus Christ and his own Holy Christ Self, I bless the seven bodies through which the soul of this child functions. May each one cooperate lovingly with the Threefold Flame in the heart.

We give thanks that this is done now. So be it.

DECREE FOR UNMARRIED MOTHERS AND THEIR CHILDREN

Beloved Mighty Victorious Presence of God, "I AM", and beloved, beloved Goddess of Mercy, Kwan Yin!

I call, in the name of all mankind, and in the authority of the living Presence of God which beats their hearts, directly to your heart of mercy and compassion for all life! CHARGE, CHARGE, CHARGE, oceans of your cosmic flame of the Violet Fire in, through, and around all thoughtforms in the atmosphere of Earth and in the worlds of mankind, qualified with feelings of censure, arrogant pride and blame, especially that driven against all unmarried mothers and children of illegitimate birth. Let this Violet Fire of Cosmic Christ Mercy transmute these feelings, instantly and forever, into the Pink Adoration Flame of God's tolerant love and understanding. Free all life RIGHT NOW from that which God never intended to be, letting these lifestreams go forward to fulfill their divine plan in peace, happiness

and God-success.

Beloved Kwan Yin, in thy name, we call limitless legions of Angels of the Violet Fire to sustain and expand this decree each time it is given, until this unfortunate activity and its attendant distress are wiped out forever, cause, effect, record and memory, from the records of the blessed planet Earth.

We consciously accept this done RIGHT NOW with full power!

INVOCATION FOR THE EXPECTANT MOTHER AND CHILD

Beloved Presence of God, I AM in me! Beloved Holy Christ Self of this mother (name) and child. Beloved Lords of Karma and beloved Ascended Masters Jesus and Mary!

In the name of the Immortal Threefold Flame of life within this mother and child, I invoke the most powerful action of the sacred love of the Sacred Fire of Mercy, Compassion and Forgiveness in, through and around these precious souls, consuming all destructive etheric records that may cloud their harmonious association in the future.

Beloved Mary, Cosmic Mother! Beloved Kwan Yin, Patroness of Homes! We ask thee to place a petition before the Karmic Board, removing forever all travail connected with childbirth from the women of the race, that the advent of souls into the world of form may be accomplished in harmony and peace and joy, without physical pain or discomfort.

Beloved Maha Chohan! Charge the full grace and perfection of the Holy Spirit in, through and around the souls and bodies of these dear ones for whom we call, and may this mother and child be bathed in the aura of the Holy Comforter, himself, until the day when he bestows on the incoming lifestream its first immortal breath.

We thank thee it is done!

EASY PASSING

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, beloved Archangel Michael, Ascended Masters Saint Germain and Hilarion, give all who are being released from the physical body during this 24 hour period an easy, peaceful passing.

Cut them free, instantly, from the magnetic pull of Earth, the things of Earth, and all desires that might hold them earthbound.

Take them to the Temples of Truth and then to the Temples of Learning or the Ascension Temples. Seal them in the fiery purple heart of Saint Germain. Give all possible assistance so that as many as possible do not have to come back into embodiment.

Beloved Mighty Presence of God, "I AM", and beloved Mighty Astrea! LOCK Your Cosmic Circle and Sword of Blue Flame of thousands of suns from the Great Central Sun, in through and around all destructive karma of those passing from the Earth this year. Close in upon it all, and [transmute it all] 3x, cause, effect, record and memory, before it can act, approach or encroach upon life longer! Replace it with the substance of purity provided by the Elohim of Purity.

BENEDICTION 1

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, we thank the Ascended Host for the assistance received at this meeting.

Mighty active God-Presence "I AM", assert and hold your dominion and help each one to understand your marvelous laws, that all may maintain harmony and produce perfection. For your enfolding Presence, protecting power, intelligence and love, we thank you.

In the name of the Presence of God "I AM", let beloved Saint Germain's Maltese Cross keep you enfolded while we are absent from each other.

BENEDICTION 2

Sealed in a mighty pillar of the Blue Flame of God's Will, from the hearts of beloved Archangel Michael, Elohim Hercules and Ascended Master El Morya, we thank the Ascended Host of Light for the continuous outpouring of love, wisdom and power.

We thank beloved Archangels Michael and the Angels of Protection, Ministration and Ceremonial, who have assisted us in this class. Take up our humble efforts and amplify them with your mighty love. Take them North, South, East and West and cover the Earth with the outpouring of the Blue Flame of God's Will, (short pause).

May the benediction and blessings of the most High Living God and the peace which surpasses all understanding, be with you, each one. May the God of Mercy protect and guide you on your spiritual path toward enlightenment and freedom.

BENEDICTION 3

Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, sealed in beloved Archangel Michael's shield of invincible protection, we thank the Ascended Host who assisted us this day. We thank you for your outpouring of Light and love. We thank you for your assistance to us in healing, supply, wisdom, protection, perfection, guidance, illumination and blessing of every kind.

Pour fourth this assistance for the blessing and raising of all life on this planet.

Beloved Archangel Uriel and the angels of ceremony and ministration, we thank you for your wondrous service to us this day. Take up our humble efforts and amplify them with your mighty love. Cover our dear planet with love and Light, with peace, with illumination, healing, freedom, victory and the will of God made manifest through every electron belonging to this planet. This shall be for I have spoken in God's Holy name "I AM."

BENEDICTION 4

May the peace of God be upon you!

May the love of God be in your hearts!

May the Light of God be in your bodies!

May the wisdom of God be in your minds!

May the strength and vitality of God be in you and your loved ones!

May the health and well-being of God be manifest through the bodies, the garments you wear!

May the grace of God be in your worship!

May the talents and genius of God be manifest through your outer activities!

May the fullness of the victory of your God-plan be manifest through your souls at the close of your Earth-life!

BENEDICTION 5

Mighty victorious I AM Presence, assert and hold your dominion and help each one to understand your marvelous Laws. See that all may maintain harmony and produce perfection. For your enfolding Presence, protecting power and love, we thank you.

Let beloved Lord Gautama's Cosmic Cross of White Fire keep you enfolded while we are absent one from the other.

(Other option) Select a benediction from the "I AM Discourses, Volume 3."

EXTINGUISHING CANDLES

We return these flames to the Great Central Sun from whence they came, with all our love, blessings and gratitude for life everywhere.

SONGS FOR AMTF SERVICES

PLEDGE TO SERVE

To Morya we bow!
We, your chelas, humbly vow
To now consecrate
And rededicate
Our life in your service now!
We march in God's name!
Protected by your flame
'Til this Earth is free,
Blessed One—use me!
Help me be the Christ in action,
In God's "I AM" name!

In me you can trust!
I am equal to the task!
I will give my all,
Ready at your call!
All you have to do is ask!
El Morya my friend—
I am with you 'til the end!
Not my will but thine!
Place your hand in mine!
On your Bridge to Freedom chelas
You can now depend!

Oh! How we love you!
We will help to see it through!
Arm us with your sword.
And with one accord—
We'll win even though we're few!
We do now attest!
We will strive to do our best!
For vows that were sworn
Before we were born,
We will serve until
The Golden Age is manifest!

Melody: Pomp and Circumstance March No. 4, Elgar

BELOVED SAINT GERMAIN

Saint Germain, that magic name,
 Brings to all sweet freedom's flame,
 Enables all mankind to claim
 All Light from whence they came.

Chorus:

I love you Saint Germain!
I love your Violet Flame!
And I love your sacred name—
Beloved Saint Germain!

- 2. Saint Germain! Thy patience rare Holds the Earth in heavens care; Releases all life everywhere In freedom all may share!
- 3. Saint Germain! By love sublime, Let thy spirit through all shine; Make all that's human now divine, Beloved friend of mine!

TO THE ANGELS

Angels of Love, Angels of Peace,
We send our call to thee!
Angels of Beauty, Angels of Grace,
Come with perfection that sets all free.
Angels of Pink Flame, Comfort and Ease,
Angels that heal, to thee we sing.
Angels of Kindness and Happiness,
We accept the gifts that you bring!

Angels of Wisdom, Angels of Truth,
We send our call to thee!
Angels of Vict'ry, Angels of Joy,
Come with perfection that sets all free.
Angels of Gold Flame, Illumination, too!
Angels that bless, to thee we sing.
Angels of Balance and Mastery,
We accept the gifts that you bring!

Angels of Faith, Angels of Power,
We send our call to thee!
Angels of Courage, Angels of Strength,
Come with perfection that sets all free.
Angels of Blue Flame, Goodwill and Health,
Angels that guard, to thee we sing.
Angels of Service and Unity,
We accept the gifts that you bring!

Angels of Freedom, Angels of Love,
We send our call to thee!
Angels of Mercy, Angels of Poise,
Come with perfection that sets all free!
Angels of Violet Transmuting Flame,
Angels that forgive, to thee we sing.
Angels of Justice and God-Success,
We accept the gifts that you bring!

Angels of Life, Angels of heav'n,
We send our call to thee!
Angels of Green Flame, Ruby and Gold,
Come with perfection that sets all free.
Angels of White Fire, Purity too,
Angels that raise, to thee we sing.
Angels of God's Ascension Flame,
We accept the gifts that you bring!

BLEST VIOLET FIRE

Blest Violet Fire of freedom's love,
Oh, blaze and blaze and blaze!
Blest Sacred Fire from God above,
All raise, all raise, all raise!
Descend, Defend, transmute and dissolve!
Now free the Earth by fiery love!
Blest Violet Fire in freedom's ways,
Oh, blaze and blaze and blaze!

CONSTANCY

Oh, make and keep us constant, Beloved "I AM" to thee, And grateful for thy Presence Whose Light now sets us free. We feel thy cosmic power Thy love to all impart. Expand now God's forgiveness In every constant heart.

May we be ever constant
When pressures seem so strong,
Til through love's pow'r triumphant,
We sing again its song.
Oh make and keep us willing
To ever constant be.
In giving our great service
Of loving all life free.

May our desire be constant
To see the Master's face,
In faith our hearts expectant
Are poised in list'ning grace.
To find that realm eternal
From whence we ne'er shall roam,
When once our task is finished
And God then calls us home.

Belov'd Archaii Constance,
Our guiding star now be,
And ever blaze within us
Thy flame of constancy.
To make and keep us constant
In blazing forth God's Light,
That raises all mankind in
Ascension's glory bright!

Melody: The Church's One Foundation

ECSTASY

I pledge the Threefold Flame a vow, Its glory all-commanding now. I face my source above and see My Presence smiling down on me!

I feel its great enfolding love Pouring o'er me from above, I gaze into the glorious eyes; I hear it say: "Arise, arise!"

I see its blazing heart of light,
Its beauteous garments dazzling bright.
I ask its help and do implore,
I hear it say: "Adore, adore!"

I watch its light become a sun, Whose rays pour out to everyone. I now behold these seem to blend, I hear it say: "Ascend, ascend!"

I must obey its mighty call! Surrendering now myself—my all! I do attain my victory! I hear it say: "All free! All Free!"

Its arms reach out and raise me high.
Its light illumines all the sky.
I hear it say: "My self now be!
For 'I AM' thee and thou art me!"

Melody: "Song of the Islands"

GREAT KARMIC BOARD

Great Karmic Board, we thank you for Your Presence there above.
The glory of your beauty,
Your faithfulness to duty,
Inspire us so to love! (repeat once)
Inspire us—inspire us so to love!

Great Karmic Board, our souls arise
To call your light and power.
Your Flames of Mercy, Justice too!
Forgiveness rare, love's balance true!
Enfold us every hour (repeat once)
Enfold us—enfold us every hour!

Great Karmic Board, we love our Earth, And all that is thereon. Oh help us lift her strain and stress, Replace it with light's happiness. Expand the cosmic dawn *(repeat once)* Expand—expand the Cosmic Dawn!

Great Karmic Board! Help us to be
All that you have become!
Your majesty and power too!
Victorious in all we do!
That we may bring Earth home (repeat once)
That we may—that we may bring Earth home!

Great Karmic Board, to you we give Ourselves without reserve! Blaze through us your Light's joyousness, Your freedom, peace and God-success. Make all your love deserve! *(repeat once)* Make all—make all your love deserve!

Great Karmic Board, for you we call In the name of all mankind!

All blessings from the Central Sun, For all the good that you have done. No greater love we find! *(repeat once)* No greater—no greater love we find!

Great Central Sun! we now command Your gifts and blessings true, To flood our Karmic Board so dear— Expand those blessings year by year! 'Til all returns to you! *(repeat twice)*

Melody: Joy to the world)

HOLY CHRIST FLAME

Thou Holy Christ Flame within my heart, Help me to manifest all thou art; Teach me to see thyself in all, Help me to show men how to call All of thy glory from the sun 'Til Earth's great victory is won! "I AM", we love thee, thou art our ALL! "I AM", we love thee, HEAR OUR CALL!

I hear thy call, my children dear, "I AM" your heart, so never fear; "I AM" your mind, thy body, too, "I AM" in every cell of you; "I AM" thy earth, and sea, and sky And not one soul shall I pass by. "I AM" in thee, thou art in me! "I AM", "I AM" Earth's VICTORY!

Note: This song was created and used by Lord Maitreya in his attainment of the ascension.

HAIL TO THEE-HILARION

Hail to thee! Hilarion—
And Brotherhood at Crete!
Guarding God's eternal truth
From this blest retreat.
Here no shadows can prevail—
All is blazing light—
Here no human wrongs assail
Here all things are made right.
Faithful friend of all below,
Lord of love's Fifth Ray,
God's great truth on all bestow—
Hilarion—today!

Champion of the Unfed Flame
In each beating heart,
Let that flame in all expand
Filling every part.
Skeptics and agnostics too
Find in thee a friend,
Patiently unveiling truth
In wisdom without end.
Here all life stands God-revealed—
Happy— free from strife—
Here forever to enjoy
God's Eternal Life.

Great Hilarion, Master dear,
Brother, too, of love,
Saturate our planet here
From thy realms above
With thy Flame of Cosmic Truth.
Let naught else abide,
Send thy legions— attend our youth—
Walk closely by their side!
They're the hope of God's New Day—
Make them firm and strong,
And with freedom's Seventh Ray
Sing the victor's song.

Pallas Athena, Flame of Truth,
And Maha Chohan,
Asking naught— but bringing all
Their God-gifts to man.
Sanat Kumara now to free—
Truth and Comfort COME!
Without limit bless these dear ones,
Great, Great Central Sun!
With Hilarion we stand
in fellowship so sweet,
Calling legions to expand
His Brotherhood at Crete!

Tune "Onward, Christian Soldiers!" (The keynote of Hilarion)

BEAUTIFUL KWAN YIN

1. There comes to my heart one sweet name, The blessing of mercy's love flame, I sing it again and again, Kwan Yin, the gift of God's love! **CHORUS** Kwan Yin! Kwan Yin! Goddess of Mercy above! Oh beautiful, lovely Kwan Yin, God's flame of merciful love! 2. Her mercy of love is divine, To her doubts and fears I resign. I claim her forgiveness as mine, So help me—blessed Kwan Yin! 3. Her mercy of love is so sweet, It makes the soul's victory complete. It brings all the world to her feet, Kwan Yin, the mercy of love!

Hymn tune: "Sweet Peace, the Gift of God's Love" (sometimes indexed in hymnals under first line of verse, "There comes to my heart one sweet strain.")

BELOVED LANTO

- Lanto, dear Lanto, friend of old and friend of light!
 Parent and teacher, call we to thy height!
 Let all now adore thee, for thy patient love and care,
 Let all bow before thee, let thy love all share!
- Friend of the ages, to thy gracious heart we call,
 Let cosmic mercy, flood o'er Earth to all.
 For beloved China, land of mercy's healing flame,
 Free her blessed people, in God's holy name!
- 3. Guardian beloved, of America so dear, Help her to freedom, keep her way all clear. Purify, illumine, all within our land today, Let thy power of victory ever with her stay!
- 4. Hail Royal Teton! First God-home of man on Earth, Flood forth God's goodness, healing, peace and mirth! Raise our Earth to heaven, fulfill now God's perfect plan, Reveal God in action, BROTHERHOOD IN MAN!

CHORUS (after each verse above)

Lanto, dear blessed Lanto, Never, never from us part, Heal us, raise us and seal us Ever in thy heart.

(Melody "Juanita")

MARY FROM THE REALMS OF GLORY

- Mary from the realms of glory,
 Spread your light o'er all the Earth.
 You, who held the Christ-child Image,
 Giving our dear Jesus birth.
- Mary, Queen of all the angels,
 Mother of Immanuel.
 God has made you our new sponsor,
 With the mighty Morya El.
- Jesus, from the realms of glory,
 Immaculately conceived.
 Blessed Mary, gently guarded,
 Till your victory was achieved.

CHORUS (after each verse above)

Come and help us! Come and help us! Help us now fulfill God's plan.

Hymn tune: "Angels, from the Realms of Glory"

MAGNIFY THE LORD

- Blessed Mother Mary from your glorious height,
 Come into our hearts and fill our worlds with Light—
 Make us truly grateful for our victory won—
 Help us magnify the Lord us you have done!
- 2. All the hosts of heaven, such a glorious throng!Angel choirs and voices join our happy song.All throughout the universe the word has spread—"Earth has turned from shadows—Loves her God instead!"
- 3. All mankind shall one day know the truth of life. Violet Fire shall have transmuted storm and strife! All evolving on the Earth shall use "The word"—Purify with Light and magnify the Lord!

Chorus:

Magnify the Lord, Oh soul of me!

Magnify the Lord for all to see!

Magnify him, glorify his name!

Gratitude will raise ALL 'to Ascension's Flame

Final chorus:

Purify my soul, Oh flame "I AM!"
Purify my soul by Christ command!
Purify me! Glorify thy name!
Purify and raise all on ascension's flame!

NEARER "I AM" TO THEE

Nearer I AM to thee, thy light I see, Draw me by love divine, thy self to be. Possess my mind and soul, make thou my bodies whole, Help me attain my goal, "I AM" in thee!

Holy Christ Self of me, reveal thy power, Hold God-control of me every passing hour. Thou art my friend divine, holding my God-design. By love my world refine, blaze thy light through me!

Though I have wayward been, wandering afar,
Now I return to thee, bringing freedom's star.
Watch o'er me day and night, help me make all things right
By glorious victory's might, ascend me to thee!

I claim thy Presence now, love's victory won! Thy crown upon my brow, my long journey done! Now free from every stain, by use of freedom's flame, Grateful to Saint Germain, I ascend to thee.

Upward from Earth I soar, into thine arms,
Now free forevermore, from all fear's alarms.
"Welcome" I hear thee say—"Thou has been long away!
Now be perfection's ray, for eternity!"

In heaven's beauty rare, now I abide, Sure that no earnest prayer ever is denied. So, knowing freedom's worth, grateful for love's rebirth, I call "Now raise all Earth, 'I AM' to thee."

(Hymn Tune: "Nearer, my God to thee")

BELOVED ARCHANGEL RAPHAEL

1. Raphael, oh glorious Archangel,
Standing in Earth's atmosphere,
Blaze thy light through and around us
That all may God's power revere.
There in thy radiant splendor,
Naught but perfection can live;
Speak thy great love through each heartbeat;
And in God's mercy forgive!
Chorus:
Raphael, dear, our heart's call do now hear;
Consecrate us—
To Earth's great vict'ry won;
Every heart sings as thy great presence brings
Healing in thy bright wings!

- 2. We give our all to dear Raphael!
 That we may heaven regain;
 With his great love flowing through us,
 All shall e'er constant remain.
 We call to our blest Archangel
 To hold us peaceful within;
 As through us he pours his blessing,
 In us, new life will begin!
- 3. Raphael, oh glorious Archangel! Bring us thy heavenly peace; As all outpicture thy Christ light, Mankind in grace shall increase. Blessings and love to thee always—Raphael, from God's heart, we call; We give our life's consecration To thee and Archangels all!

Melody: Whispering Hope (Keynote of Archangel Raphael and Mother Mary)

BELOVED SANAT KUMARA

Sanat Kumara, gracious lord and king, Before thy throne our homage now we bring, Offerings and gifts of humble service true. Reverence and gratitude to God for you.

Humbly we bow before thy glorious throne, Clothe us in love and make us all thine own. Give us thy courage, strength and patience rare, Flood through us Venus' love for all to share.

Flood us with light, sustain us by thy power, Give us thy wisdom, guide us every hour, Seal us in peace in love's own God-control. Let thy great wings of love our worlds enfold.

Thou art God's glory, majesty and grace, Thy patient care has held for Earth her place. All through the ages that have gone before Thy love has been for Earth the open door.

Lift thou our Earth from strain and stress today, Free all her life so earnestly we pray, Forces of nature, elementals too, Sanat Kumara, dear, all call to you.

Glory and honor unto thee belong, Let all men free you now in grateful song, Let all that lives upon this planet raise Heart, soul and spirit to thy name in praise.

Great Central Sun, thy gifts of love we call For our dear friend of light and lord of all. Bless his dear Venus, Goddess from the Sun, Bless their dear planet and all life thereon.

(Tune: "Abide with Me")

TO THE SEVEN ARCHANGELS

Michael! Michael! Michael! Prince of the Archangels, From the grateful hearts of all Do songs of praise arise. For thy heav'nly presence, All on Earth adore thee—God from the Sun—In all the name implies.

Michael! Michael! Michael! May the guardian angels From thy heav'nly legions, Stand forth for all to see! Purify, illumine! Manifest the glory Of Light's perfection, That each one may be.

Jophiel and Chamuel!
Gabriel and Raphael!
Uriel and Zadkiel!
And mighty hosts of Light.
Cherubim and Seraphim
From the realms of glory,
Rend now the veil
That dims our human sight.

Blessed seven Archangels, For illumination, We invoke thy presence In hymns of praise to thee. Keep us consecrated To God's plan fulfilling; In purity, Thy ministers to be!

Melody: Holy, Holy, Holy

SONG OF THANKSGIVING

My beloved I AM Presence
Grateful am I now for thee!
Flooding forth life's perfect essence
Setting all the earth now free.
Let us see thyself now clearly
Rend—oh—rend the human veil.
Bless the Masters we love dearly
By their love, God does prevail!

Thank you for the air we're breathing, Thanks for earth and sea and sky, Thank you for the many blessings Men so thoughtlessly pass by. Thank you for a heart that's beating, Thanks for home and comforts too, Thanks for perfect sight and hearing, All through love that flows from you!

Thank you for the blessed sunshine
Filling all our worlds with cheer,
Thank you for the elementals,
And the friends we hold so dear,
Thank you for love's great forgiveness
Thanks for loving mercy, too,
Thanks for God's great gift of healing,
Thanks—oh—thanks for ALL YOU do!

Thank you for our native country
Blest America "THE FREE,"
Lift her people out of bondage,
Raise their consciousness to thee.
Hold them in the heart of freedom,
Seal them in his Violet Flame,
Purify their homes and families
Through the love of Saint Germain!

My beloved I AM Presence,

Grateful am I now for thee, Take my body, mind and spirit, Take the heart and soul of me. Make of me thy perfect chalice, Messenger of love and peace, By the light of God within me, Give ascension's sweet release.

Tune: "What a Friend We have in Jesus." The beloved Maha Chohan has said he was grateful for these words and suggested it would be well to sing the song in each group meeting, or individually, once a day.

THE WILL OF GOD

The will of God is GOOD!

Dear Morya embodies it all;

His kindness—his love
which he gives in abundance,

We return to him straight from our hearts!

Oh Morya, dear Morya we vow!

To serve thee with all our hearts We acknowledge thy wisdom, God's will, which thou art; From thee never let us depart!

Dear Morya, right through the years,
Thou has kindled the flame in our hearts;
And stirred us to want to
Do God's will—not our will;
Oh, Morya dear, bless thy sweet heart!

Melody: Blest Be the Tie That Binds—Hymn

BELOVED ARCHANGEL URIEL

Uriel, Uriel!
In thy love we all dwell,
As thou comest in God's name
Bringing ministration's flame.
For the souls of all men
Shall be redeemed again,
As the Christ from above
Bathes the Earth in his love!

Uriel, Uriel!
All in heaven now tell,
Of the pow'r of freedom's might
To raise Earth to heaven's height.
Freedom's reign is now real,
Freedom's bell do now peal!
Now is Earth's victory
Setting all God's life free!

Uriel, Uriel!
Freedom's friends love thee well,
For thy freedom, joy and peace
Ever bringing Earth release.
We call forth blessings now,
To thy light we do bow,
As above angels sing
To God's harmony bring.

Uriel, Uriel!
Let all hear freedom's bell!
As its mighty holy sound!
Now is heard the world around.
And this dawning new day
Born of God's Seventh Ray,
Sends its light to all men
Setting all free again!

Melody: Brahm's Lullaby

VICTORY - BELOVED FRIEND

1. To Victory, beloved friend, Our gratitude and love we send For answering our Saint Germain, Bringing Earth God's victory in Freedom' s name!

Chorus:

Oh Victory, our Victory! Thy golden flame is mastery! Love's full forgiveness we would be, For love alone is victory!

- 2. From realms unknown to us below Thy precious gifts and blessings flow. Transmuting shadows in the light, Thus our Earth you're raising unto Heaven's height!
- 3. From Venus, star of love and light, Come heaven's help by Victory's might. Now raising Earth on golden flame, Forgiving all in freedom's name!
- 4. And one day, when my course is run, One day, when all has been said and done, That day, please God, I shall ascend, And spend eternity with him —my friend!

Final Chorus

Oh Victory, my Victory! At last my Presence has called for me! Love's divine plan fulfilled to see, Ascending—I AM victory!

Melody: He Leadeth Me—Hymn

SILENCE

Silence great!
Silence sweet!
Silence deep within!

Come I now, Here I bow, To thy love sublime!

Quiet, still, Holy will,

Here all is divine!

Deep within, We are one. Silence, Great "I AM!"

GOD BE WITH YOU TIL WE MEET AGAIN

- 1. God be with you til we meet again, I AM Presence guide, uphold you In the Light securely hold you "I AM" with you til we meet again.
- 2. God be with you til we meet again, By pillar of Light protect you Daily communion connect you. "I AM" with you til we meet again.
- 3. God be with you til we meet again, if life's problems should confront you Violet Fire blaze all around you "I AM" with you til we meet again.
- 4. God be with you til we meet again,
 Keep love's banner floating o'er you
 Cross of White Fire go before you
 "I AM" with you til we meet again.
 Chorus (after each verse above)
 Til we meet, til we meet, til we meet inRetreat
 "I AM" with you til we meet again.

VEDANTIC PRAYER*

Oh! Thou Infinite Holy Presence of God, the divine source of all life! Hallowed be thy sacred name! We bow before thee in humble gratitude, praise and thanksgiving for thy supreme Presence in this universe. Because thou art, "I AM"!

We return unto thee, Almighty One, all the power and dominion we have ever vested in any imperfect manifestation, visible or invisible, for thou art the all power of the universe and there is no other power that can act. Let thy will be done in and thru us now! Let thy kingdom be manifest across the face of this Earth through the hearts of all who are so blessed as to live upon it.

Oh, Supreme Beloved One, as we lift our hearts, our vision, our consciousness toward thee, release the substance of thyself to us, each according to our requirements, that as we move forward in thy name and upon thy service we shall not be found wanting.

We ask forgiveness for all the transgressions of thy Law of love and harmony both for ourselves and all mankind, the forces of the elemental kingdom, and the kingdom of nature. Endow us now with thy power and desire to so forgive all who have ever caused us distress, back unto the very beginning of time.

Because thou art with us and in us, we fear no evil, for there is no power apart from thee which can hurt, destroy or despoil life's beauty of expression. Thou art the strength and the power by which we move ever in the path of righteousness—and now, Oh, Father of Light, show us the full glory we had with thee in the beginning before the world was. SO BE IT!

* This prayer is the origin of the Lord's Prayer

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR A DISCIPLE OF THE HOLY SPIRIT

- 1. Be conscious ever that thou aspireth to the full expression of God, and devote all thy being and thy service to that end, as expressed so ably in thy First Commandment.
- 2. Learn the lesson of harmlessness—neither by word nor thought nor feeling inflict evil upon any part of life. Know that action and physical violence is but the lesser part of the sin of harmful expression.
- 3. Stir not a brother's sea of emotion, thoughtlessly or deliberately, for knowing that the storm in which thou placeth his spirit will sooner or later flow upon the banks of thine own lifestream. Rather bring tranquility to life, and be as the psalmist so ably puts it, "oil on the troubled waters."
- 4. Disassociate thyself from the personal delusion. Let self-justification never reveal that thou dost love the self more than the harmony of the universe. If thou art right, there is no need to acclaim it, if thou art wrong, pray for forgiveness. Watching the self, thou wilt find the rising tides of indignation among the more subtle shadows on the path of right, called "self-righteousness."
- 5. Walk gently through the universe, knowing that the body is a temple in which dwelleth the Holy Spirit, that bringeth peace and illumination to life everywhere. Keep thy temple always in a respectful and cleanly manner, as befitting the habitation of the Spirit of Truth. Respect and honor, in gentle dignity, all other temples, knowing that ofttimes within a crude exterior burns a great light.
- 6. In the presence of nature, absorb the beauties and gifts of her kingdom in gentle gratitude. Do not desecrate her by vile thoughts or emotions, or by physical acts that despoil her virgin beauty.
- 7. Do not form nor offer opinions unless invited to do so, and then only after prayer and silent invocation for guidance.
- 8. Speak when God chooseth to say something through thee. At other times remain peacefully silent.
- 9. Make the ritual of thy living, the observance of God's rules, so unobtrusive that no man shall know that thou aspireth to goodli-

ness, lest the force of his outer will might be pitted against thee, or lest thine service become impinged with pride.

- 10. Let thy heart be a song of gratitude that the Most High has given unto thy keeping the Spirit of Life, which through thee chooseth to widen the borders of his kingdom.
- 11. Be alert always to use thy faculties and the gifts loaned unto thee by the Father of all life in a manner to extend his kingdom.
- 12. Claim nothing for thyself, neither powers nor principality, any more than thou claimest the air thou breathest or the sun, using them freely, but knowing the God-ownership of all.
- 13. In speech and action be gentle, but with the dignity that always accompanies the presence of the living God that is within the temple.
- 14. Constantly place all the faculties of thy being, and all the inner unfoldment of thy nature, at the feet of the God-power, endeavoring to manifest perfection through one in distress.
- 15. Let thy watchword be GENTLENESS, HUMILITY, AND LOVING SERVICE, but do not allow the impression of humility to be mistaken for lethargy, for the servant of the Lord, like the sun in the heavens, is eternally vigilant and constantly outpouring the gifts of his particular keeping.

Maha Chohan

SERVICE FOR THE CONSECRATION OF CHILDREN

In the name and authority of the Presence of God "I AM", beloved Archangel Raphael, Mother Mary and Jesus the Christ, I hereby dedicate and consecrate:

(Name)
who came to Earth to expand the borders of the kingdom of heaver on Earth.
I hereby anoint thee with the Living Essence of Pure Light
Thy forehead to receive the divine directives of thy Holy Christ Self
Thy eyes to see only perfection
Thy nostrils to breath the pure prana of the Holy Spirit
Thy ears to hear and accept only that which is good
Thy lips to speak only words which shall bless
Thy hands to bless all life
Thy feet to carry thee on the pathway of Light
and I anoint all thy four lower vehicles with the sacred oil of the essence of the Holy Spirit, which will one day raise you to the consciousness of a disciple of the Holy Spirit!
Consecrated and dedicated
This day of
in the year
at
(Place of Consecration)

God-Parents in attendance

SERVICES FOR THE DEPARTED

INTRODUCTION

Offered are two services for a departed chela of the Ascended Master Teaching Foundation. One is to be used for services which will be attended by many participants holding orthodox beliefs. The other service is for those who are students of the Ascended Masters. Bold letters indicate a service where the audience consists of students of Ascended Master Teaching; regular letters are used where the audience consists of individuals having an orthodox point of view. The person conducting the service should feel free to make changes to adapt to a particular situation, as his inner guidance directs.

MUSIC

"Ah, sweet mystery of Life" by Victor Herbert or "Rock of Ages" (an old Hymn).

"In the Garden" (on AMTF keynote tapes). Visualize the presence of Jesus, Saint Germain, Archangel Michael or other Ascended Beings of your choice.

INVOCATION

Beloved Paul, in the *New Testament*, tells us: "Faith is the substance of things hoped for, the evidence of things not seen."

Option 1) "Thou majestic victorious Presence of the Ascended Jesus Christ! Thou who rests serene in the heart of the Eternal Father, pouring forth thy wondrous radiance, thou who hast gained eternal dominion over all things, enfolding all mankind, we give praise and thanks to thee.

Option 2) "Beloved mighty, victorious Presence of God 'I AM', the source that is anchored within each of our hearts, we love and adore you. We acknowledge you to be the owner and giver of all life, our intelligence, our substance, our all!

Beloved Jesus, beloved Mother Mary and Archangel Michael,

seal us in your light and love."

PERSONAL TALK FOR THE DEPARTED ONE

(if family desires it)

- 1. We gather here today to pay respect to the life of......
 - 2. Personal Remarks.

THERE IS NO DEATH

Beloved ones, there is no death. What appears to us as death, is really just a change of garments, just a withdrawing of the soul, the spirit, the withdrawing of the life-energy of the individualized God-Self, that part of man "made in the image and likeness of God." The real self is but released of this earthly habitat, and free to enter the higher realm of beauty, harmony and peace.

Beloved Jesus referred to this immortality of life when he said:

I AM the resurrection and the life.

I AM the open door that no man can shut.

You shall know the truth and the truth shall make you free!

I AM the way, the truth and the life.

Lo, I AM with you always!

(Add to the above) Think of this passing as a change into higher garments of Light, bringing the individual greater freedom than was ever had in this earthly life. Therefore, let us not dwell on the feeling of personal loss but let us substitute for it, the feeling of gladness for the new opportunities which will be afforded this lifestream.

PRAYER FOR THE DEPARTED

Beloved Jesus, beloved Mother Mary, beloved Ascended Master Saint Germain and beloved Archangel Michael, we are grateful for all the service and all the good that our loved one contributed in this embodiment. We call on the Law of Forgiveness for any energy that was discordantly qualified.

We call on beloved Saint Germain and the Violet Flame to transmute any karmic energy generated throughout the entire stream of (her/his) embodiments.

Beloved God "I AM" take.....into your arms to make the ascension or take (her/him) to the Temples of Learning for further instruction.

We enfold.....in our love and the blessings of the Ascended Host.

Option 2) BELOVED PRESENCE OF GOD, "I AM", BLESSED ARCHANGEL MICHAEL AND HIS ANGELS OF DELIVERANCE:

Meet this dear soul. Cut (her/him) free from all the ties of Earth and the shackles of human creation. Take (her/him) quickly into one of the great Temples of Mercy and Love, and there purify (her/him) of the effects of the human creations of centuries, before (she/he) is called to appear in the Halls of Judgment.

Forgive (her/him), forgive (her/him), forgive (her/him), oh, eternal Father of love and mercy!

Beloved angels of light! Go with (her/him), we pray you, into the Halls of Karma, and stand by (her/his) side.

Beloved Masters of Love and Wisdom! Come forth, we pray you, and stand sponsor for (her/his) lifestream, when (her/his) name is called and (her/his) book of records is opened and read.

Let the judgment of the Karmic Board be tempered with Mercy!

Let the perpetual light of (her/his) own Christ Self illumine (her/his) pathway!

Let (her/his) spirit rise on wings of love into the octaves of light and, if possible, allow (her/him) to complete the circle of life in the octaves of light—free, forever, from the wheel of birth and death!

If the Law of (her/his) lifestream demands re-embodiment, may (she/he) reincarnate with a family of great Light. May (she/he) fulfill (her/his) divine plan quickly and may the cause of the Cosmic Christ be furthered by reason of (her/his) presence on this Earth.

Option 3 "Beloved mighty victorious I AM Presence, you are the authority over this lifestream. We now make the call for you to take full command of the outer self.

We call on the Law of Forgiveness and for the Transmuting Violet Flame to transmute all that is not of the Light in, through and around (her/him). May beloved Archangel Michael, Ascended Masters Jesus, Saint Germain and Hilarion give their assistance for an easy passing from this realm. May the Angels of Deliverance then escort (her/him) to the Temple of Truth and to the Temples of Learning and see that, with additional service at inner levels, (she/he) may gain the ascension, relieving our beloved friend from the necessity of future embodiment. If this is not possible, prepare (her/him) to return to Earth quickly and give (her/him) the opportunity to learn the lessons necessary to gain the ascension in the next embodiment.

May the Lord Maha Chohan enfold those dear to the departed in his Comfort Flame.

NEARER "I AM" TO THEE

Use as a solo or recite as a poem (see pg. 62).

BENEDICTION 1

Father of Light, Thou art with us and in us and we fear no evil. Thou art our strength and the power by which we move ever in the path of righteousness.

May the benediction and blessings of the most High Living God and the peace which surpasses all understanding, be with you, each one. Amen.

May the benediction and blessings of the most High Living God and the peace which surpasses all understanding, be with you, each one.

May the God of Mercy protect and guide you on your spiritual path toward enlightenment and freedom.

BENEDICTION 2

Read one of the following the Benedictions from the "I AM" Discourses, Volume 3: page 86-87, 148 (leave out last sentence) 225 or 240.

END OF SERVICE

CREMATION

After so-called death, the body, before cremation, should be placed on ice for three days or placed under refrigeration and not be touched. No embalming or autopsy should be permitted. Sometimes, however, an autopsy is required by law. It is preferable that the ashes be returned to the water element (placed in the ocean or in a river of running water).

At cosmic levels, during the etherealizing process, minor music is used. Therefore, during cremation, play some good classical music written in a minor key, by composers such as Chopin, Mozart, Bach and Wagner. This can be done in one's home or in a sanctuary.

Students should consider preparing a written statement which includes their wishes. It is best to have these requests notarized.

REMARKS ABOUT THE ASCENSION PROCESS

(See Voice of the "I AM", Saint Germain, Nov. 8, 1938)

Through the intercession of the Goddess of Light, the Goddess of Liberty and Mighty Victory an important dispensation was obtained, which changes the way individuals make the ascension.

Heretofore, in order to gain the ascension, the purified essence of the physical body had to be drawn into the Christ Self. This is the way beloved Jesus and beloved David Lloyd made the ascension. The physical body was no longer seen by those who witnessed the ascension.

As part of the dispensation of 1938, this is no longer necessary. Now the purified essence of the physical body is drawn into the etheric body. This makes it much easier to gain the ascension (the required step-up in vibration is of a lesser magnitude). The physical body is left behind, later to be cremated. Beloved Saint Germain called this grant one of the most magnificent gifts ever given to mankind.

In another dictation, the Masters said that 51% of the karma needs to be transmuted by the individual's own effort to gain the ascension.

For a free booklist of all AMTF-Publications, incl. lectures on CD's and prices, please write to AMTF, P.O. Box 466, Mount Shasta, CA 96067. or search the Internet at: www.ascendedmaster.org